ORIGINAL

NO. 45687-7-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

AMALGAMATED TRANSIT UNION, LOCAL 1384,

Appellant

v.

KITSAP TRANSIT and the PUBLIC EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS COMMISSION,

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Christopher J. Casillas, WSBA #34349 Cline & Associates 2003 Western Ave., Ste. 550 Seattle, WA 98121 (206) 838-8770 (Phone) (206) 838-8775 (Fax)

2014 APR 10 PM 1: 43
STATE OF WASHINGTON

COURT OF APPEALS

I. INTRODUCTION

The Amalgamated Transit Union ("ATU"), Local 1384 represents two separate bargaining units of Operators for the Routed and ACCESS bus drivers employed by Kitsap Transit. Pursuant to the collective bargaining agreements between ATU and Kitsap Transit and by long-standing practice, ATU's members had been guaranteed the option of two different health insurance plans — a Preferred Provider Option ("PPO") plan offered through Premera and a Health Management Organization ("HMO") plan offered through Group Health. At the end of 2010, Kitsap Transit unilaterally discontinued the Premera plan without negotiating this change in an important benefit with ATU. As a result, ATU filed a number of unfair labor practice ("ULP") complaints against Kitsap Transit with the Public Employment Relations Commission ("PERC").

Following a multi-day hearing, Hearing Examiner Jessica Bradley issued a detailed opinion finding that Kitsap Transit had committed a series of unfair labor practices, including the decision to unilaterally discontinue the Premera plan. As part of the remedial order, the Examiner required Kitsap Transit to restore the *status quo ante* by reestablishing a substantially equivalent plan to the Premera plan. To make the members whole for this loss, the Order also mandated that Kitsap Transit pay to the affected members the difference in monthly premiums between the

Premera and Group Health plans from the time of the loss until the benefit was restored or there was a mutual agreement to change plans.

Kitsap Transit appealed the decision, but the full PERC Commission upheld the Examiner's findings of fact and conclusions of law in their entirety. However, the Commission modified the Order, relieving Kitsap Transit of the obligation to restore the status quo as well as the obligation to pay the affected members back for the difference in premium costs between the Premera and Group Health plans. ATU filed this petition for review challenging the modification of the Examiner's Order on the grounds that such modification violates several provisions of the Administrative Procedures Act ("APA"). The Superior Court affirmed the Commission's decision, which Order is now on appeal.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

A. Errors Assigned.

The Appellant, Amalgamated Transit Union, Local 1384, asserts that the Thurston County Superior Court made the following errors:

- 1. Issuing an Order affirming the decision of the Public Employment Relations Commission, in Decisions 11098-B (PECB, 2013) and 11099-B (PECB, 2013); and
- 2. Issuing an Order denying the Appellant/Petitioner's Motion to Submit New Evidence into the Record.

B. Issues Presented.

The ATU Local 1384 presents the following issues relating to these

assigned errors:

- 1. PERC has a statutory responsibility to issue appropriate remedial orders that effectuate the purposes and policy of RCW Chapter 41.56 upon the finding of an unfair labor practice. Part of the standard remedy when an employer refuses to bargain and makes a unilateral change in a mandatory subject of bargaining is a requirement that they restore the *status quo ante*. Did PERC violate its statutory obligations when it relieved the employer, Kitsap Transit, of the obligation to remedy their unfair labor practice by restoring the status quo on the grounds that compliance with this aspect of the remedy may be impossible? (Assignment of Error No. 1)
- 2. Adjudicative decisions by an agency, under the Administrative Procedures Act, must be supported by the evidence on the record and based on a correct interpretation of the law. In modifying the Order of the Hearing Examiner relieving Kitsap Transit of the obligation to restore the *status quo ante*, PERC based this modification on a view that compliance may be impossible without citing to anything in the record and in contravention of material in the record contradicting such a determination. Did PERC err in modifying the Examiner's Order based on evidence not contained in the record? (Assignment of Error No. 1)
- 3. The payment of damages to remedy the commission of an unfair labor practice is expressly authorized as part of PERC's remedial authority and has been found to be part of the standard make-whole remedy. The Order requiring Kitsap Transit to pay affected employees the difference in premium costs between the Premera and Group Health insurance plans directly represents the value of the loss of this insurance plan and is necessary to make employees whole as a result of Kitsap Transit's unfair labor practice. Did PERC err in concluding such an award was "punitive" in nature and not consistent with the make-whole remedy that is part of the standard remedy issued by PERC? (Assignment of Error No. 1)
- 4. The Administrative Procedures Act permits the courts to receive additional evidence outside of the agency record when the evidence relates to the validity of the agency's decision at

the time it was issued and is material to that adjudicative opinion. The evidence pertains to the availability of a substitute health plan substantially similar to the discontinued Premera plan, and thus bears directly on the PERC's finding concerning the availability of alternative plans. Did the Superior Court err in failing to admit this new evidence into the record for consideration as to the validity of the agency action? (Assignment of Error No. 2)

5. Alternatively, the Administrative Procedures Act allows the court to remand a matter back to an agency for consideration of further fact-finding proceedings when new evidence becomes available that relates to the agency's adjudication and the party was under no duty to discover it until the final decision and the interests of justice would be served by a remand. The need for any evidence concerning the availability of substantially similar health plans at Kitsap Transit did not fully materialize until the agency rendered its decision finding that compliance with this part of the Examiner's Order could prove impossible. Did the Superior Court err in alternatively failing to remand the matter back to the agency for further fact-finding proceedings? (Assignment of Error No. 2).

III.STATEMENT OF CASE

ATU consists of two bargaining units for which there are two separate collective bargaining agreements, [CR¹ 150:14-18]² which establish the status quo on health insurance [See CR 793-851; CR 967-969; CR 1100-1102; CR 154:9-16].³ The Premera medical plan was a

¹ The record references in this brief are generally to the original PERC record, which should have been transferred to this Court, and short-cited as "CR."

² The ATU members who are Operators on the Routed Service routes are covered in one CBA (CR 860), and those Operators for the ACCESS Service routes are covered in another CBA (CR 979).

³ The Routed CBA requires Kitsap to pay certain premium amounts for "medical insurance provided by Premera Blue Cross, Group Health, and Vision Service Plan." While the ACCESS CBA does not identify specific insurance providers, the practice is

PPO plan, which among many attractive features: had national coverage [CR 347:10-23] and allowed patients to go to a specialist without having to take the time to wait for a referral from their primary care physician [CR 346:7-16]; go to an out of network doctor and still receive coverage [CR 344:11-20]; and go directly to a specialist without having to first obtain a referral [CR 346:13-14]. Kitsap Transit's Group HMO plan is purchased through the Association of Washington Cities ("AWC") [CR 156: 14-22], and requires employees to select a primary care physician at one of the limited Group Health facilities who would be responsible for managing and coordinating all of the employee's care, and to whom the employee must go for all referrals [CR 345:12-18; CR 346:7-17].⁴ The choices available to employees for providers, hospitals, doctors, and clinics in the Premera network are much broader than the Group Health ("GH") network because Premera varies from area to area, even within the same state [CR333:14-20; CR 228:2-23].

Knowing that Kitsap Transit was required to maintain the status quo on its health plans, as set forth in the most recent CBAs, Jeff

that ACCESS members receive the same provider options as the Routed members. Employees in the Machinists and Teamsters group and the non-represented employees also had Premera as a medical insurance option. For the 2010 year, about 50% of Kitsap employees opted for the Premera PPO medical plan, with the other 50% were covered by Group Health. ATU is the largest of these groups with 158 members.

⁴ Unlike a PPO, under an HMO plan, if you go to a doctor outside of the Group Health network or fail to obtain a referral for a specialist, the employee will mostly likely have to pay out of pocket for most or all of the out of network care.

Cartwright, the Human Resources Director, nevertheless decided in March 2010 that the employer was spending too much money on employee health insurance [CR 1034-1036]. Without notifying ATU of its plans, Cartwright requested its medical broker, John Wallen, to find a cheaper plan to replace Premera's PPO [CR 1034-1036]. But, Cartwright warned Wallen that the new PPO plan must have the same benefits as the 2010 Premera plan because otherwise, he would have to negotiate with ATU, and "it [would] take three years to get through it," and require Kitsap Transit to maintain the enhanced Premera PPO benefit during that time [CR 1061-1062].

By mid-September 2010, Kitsap Transit received a 2011 renewal bid from Premera to maintain the 2010 benefits [CR 505:1-504:4].⁵ Yet, still looking to save some money, Cartwright began negotiations with the Machinists and Teamsters ("M&T") group on September 27th to find alternative solutions to Premera, including removing members from Premera [CR 1063-1072]. Wallen warned Cartwright that without the M&T members on Premera, the number of remaining employees covered would fall below 100 [CR 506: 1-388:11],⁶ and the "plan design [Kitsap was] currently under would not be available." [CR 1085]. Nonetheless,

⁵ Kitsap could have accepted Premera's bid, ensuring that it had a PPO plan for its employees.

⁶ Falling below the 100 life cutoff would violate Premera's underwriting criteria.

Cartwright callously moved forward to negotiate the M&T group off Premera.

Substantiating Wallen's warnings, Wallen learned on September 29th that due to underwriting requirements, Premera would not be able to offer coverage for just the remaining ATU members [CR 1086-1087]. Wallen told Cartwright that he also was "not particularly optimistic" that, should Kitsap Transit move forward with removing the M&T members from Premera, other carriers would have a different response [CR 1086-1087]. Wallen explored a few possible alternatives, but during the hearing ATU presented expert testimony that other options beyond those explored by Wallen were available to Kitsap Transit, in particular a self-funded plan administered by Cigna Healthcare, likely would have been a comparable option if Wallen had done his due diligence [CR 1338-1340; CR 338-342].

After learning that without the M&T members in the PPO census, other carriers would be hesitant to cover just ATU's members, Cartwright should have decided not to take actions that would prevent it from offering ATU a PPO option. Instead, Cartwright assured Wallen that they may just move the ATU folks to whatever other plan we come up with, pay the difference out of pocket to make them whole and negotiate from there [CR 1086-1087; CR 747-749].

One week later, Cartwright told Wallen that Kitsap Transit was

going to incentivize a move to GH in an effort to move *more people* off Premera and save *more* money [CR 1088-1089]. In offering an incentive for employees to select the GH HMO plan, Cartwright blatantly disregarded the fact that the selection bias toward GH would interfere with Premera's willingness to offer a quote.

After already negotiating with the M&T group and taking further action with respect to the non-represented employees, Cartwright finally approached ATU about the incentive on October 25th, but gave no indication that its PPO option might be in jeopardy [CR 1105-1113]. Cartwright informed Rita DiIenno, ATU's business agent, of the incentive it planned to offer ATU members to move them from the Premera plan to the GH plan [CR 1105-1113], but Cartwright inaccurately represented to DiIenno that he was "uncertain if there [would] be any impact to the current PPO benefit level, with or without this incentive." [CR 1105-1113]. Yet, prior to even having the opportunity to negotiate over the incentive, and less than two weeks before open enrollment was to begin, Cartwright sent DiIenno an email on November 5, 2010, informing her *for the first time* that KT was unable to offer *any PPO* plan to ATU members [CR 1124; CR 758:2-6].

⁷ In his email, Cartwright told Dilenno that Kitsap had exhausted its options to find a replacement plan, but that it had not considered PEBB because of the small number of

Thereafter, Dilenno met with Cartwright several times in an attempt to reach a negotiated solution. Due to the employer's refusal to consider any of ATU's proposals, negotiations quickly collapsed. Their first meeting was on November 15th, where ATU offered several suggestions for ways to reach a resolution [CR 229:9-18; CR 1166].⁸ Having these rejected by Kitsap, ATU offered to accept the loss of a PPO plan if Kitsap paid ATU members the savings of three-years worth of the agency's expected premium savings [CR 1170-1171]. Kitsap Transit refused, reiterating that ATU members could either select the GH plan or go without coverage. On November 18, 2010, another negotiation session was held, but was equally as unsuccessful [CR 1170-1171; CR 229:3-25]. A final meeting was scheduled for November 30th, but was never held because Kitsap refused to counteroffer ATU's offer [CR 1170-1171, CR 1181-1187; CR 230:1-25].

employees to be covered, the benefits were "less rich," and it would take "at least three months for the lengthy application process." Of course, Cartwright also failed to mention the direct effect that its incentive to move people off Premera had on Kitsap's ability to secure a replacement PPO plan from GH and other carriers and his efforts to move the M&T Group off Premera altogether. While Cartwight testified that Group Health Options pulled back its bid in part because of the financial incentive Kitsap offered, he told Dilenno that "the carries have simply refused to quote a bid."

⁸ ATU suggested Kitsap move out of AWC and contract directly with Group Health for both the HMO and Options Plans, self-insure the ATU members, or, in the absence of having a PPO at all, take the savings Kitsap would realize from the change and give it to the ATU members. Kitsap refused to consider any of ATU's suggestions and stressed that the only choice they would offer ATU members was the option to select the AWC GH plan or to go without medical coverage.

On January 1, 2011, the only medical plan offered to ATU employees was the GH HMO plan. Several ATU members and their families experienced severe personal hardships due to the switch to Group Health from Premera, which were painstakingly testified to during the hearing [CR 251:5-12; CR 257:5-12; CR 388:1-6; CR 387:22-25; CR 395: 1-13; CR 396:10-25; CR 1238-1294]. Consequently, ATU filed a ULP with PERC alleging various unlawful acts in unilaterally removing the Premera health plan that constituted a refusal to bargain and interference violation contrary to RCW 41.56.140, subsections (1) and (4) [CR 61-96]. Following a multi-day hearing and post-hearing briefing by the parties, Examiner Bradley concluded that Kitsap Transit's actions were unlawful through their unilateral actions of removing the Premera health plan, not bargaining in good faith over the removal, and by unilaterally offering an incentive to ATU's members to move to the GH Plan [CR 1869-1910].

With respect to the crafting of a remedy, Examiner Bradley astutely noted:

The purpose of ordering a return to the status quo is to ensure the offending party is precluded from enjoying the benefits of its unlawful act and gaining an unlawful advantage at the bargaining table.... Bargaining unit employees who were on the Premera PPO plan or were intending to switch to the Premera PPO plan in 2011 were uniquely impacted by the employer's actions and decision to stop offering a PPO plan. These employees should be made whole for losses they suffered as a result of the employer's unlawful unilateral

change in benefits.... Requiring the employer to pay employees for the loss of the Premera PPO health benefits is necessary to ensure that the purpose of the statue [sic] is carried out. An employer should not be permitted to profit from its unilateral actions at the expense of its represented employees. [CR 1896-1898]

Examiner Bradley, thus, ordered Kitsap Transit to restore the status quo, which is a standard remedy issued by PERC in unilateral change cases, by reinstating a substantially similar health plan to the one that was unlawfully removed. She also required Kitsap Transit to make ATU's members whole by paying them the difference in monthly premiums between the Premera and GH plans from the date of the loss until Kitsap Transit restored the benefit [CR 1896-1898].

Kitsap Transit appealed most of this decision, but on appeal the Commission agreed that the employer's actions were unlawful. The Commission, however, relieved Kitsap Transit of the ordinary responsibility in unilateral change cases of restoring the benefit, indicating that compliance may be "impossible." It also significantly diminished the Examiner's make whole remedy by relieving the employer from paying the difference in premium costs between the Premera and GH health plans from the time of the loss until the benefit was restored [CR 1972-1988].

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

A central policy of the Public Employees Collective Bargaining Act ("PECBA"), RCW Chapter 41.56, is to ensure that an employer and

the union bargain in good faith over any changes in employee wages, hours, and working conditions, commonly referred to as mandatory subjects of bargaining. If an employer fails to engage in bargaining, or if it makes a unilateral change to a mandatory subject, this is considered an unfair labor practice for the refusal to bargain. Upon finding that a ULP has occurred, PERC is statutorily required to issue appropriate remedial orders that affirmatively effectuate the purposes and policy of the PECBA.

While PERC has been provided considerable discretion in crafting remedial orders, it has consistently issued a common set of remedies, what it calls the "standard remedy," when a ULP involving a unilateral change in a mandatory subject of bargaining has been found. Those standard remedies consist of a requirement for the offending party to cease and desist, restore the *status quo ante*; make employees whole, post notices of the violation, and publicly read the notice at an official meeting of elected officials. The Commission itself has noted that any deviation from the standard remedy is itself an "extraordinary remedy" and must be used sparingly based on the unique circumstances of a case.

In modifying the Examiner's Order, the Commission acted outside the remedial requirements in RCW 41.56.160 and violated several provisions of the APA by issuing an Order that erroneously interpreted the law, was not supported by the evidence, and decided in an arbitrary and

capricious fashion. The two pieces of the Examiner's Order at issue herein involve a requirement for the employer to restore the status quo through the reinstatement of a plan substantially equivalent to Premera, and to make employees whole through the payment of damages suffered by the loss of the Premera plan. Those remedies are part of the standard remedy in cases of this nature, and the modification of this part of the Order was based on a faulty belief that compliance could prove to be "impossible" and that the make whole remedy was instead "punitive."

In relieving Kitsap Transit of the standard obligation to restore the status quo, the Commission mistakenly rested this decision on the grounds that compliance could be impossible, which conclusion is not supported by the record. In making this determination, the Commission failed to cite to a single piece of evidence in the record supporting this assumption. If the record had been properly reviewed, it would have been discovered that evidence was produced showing, in fact, that an alternative option could have been available to Kitsap Transit if all options had appropriately been considered, negating the conclusion that restoring a substantially equivalent plan would be "impossible."

Separately, the Examiner's Order requiring Kitsap Transit to make employees whole for the loss by paying employees the premium savings between the Premera and Group Health plans was a make whole remedy

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