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

IV. ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITY

A. Standard of Review of Agency Orders.

The Administrative Procedures Act (“APA”), RCW 34.05.510–.598, governs judicial review of challenges to agency actions. *Snohomish Cnty. Pub. Transp. Ben. Area v. State Pub. Emp’t Relations Comm’n*, 173 Wn. App. 504, 512, 294 P.3d 803 (2013); accord *Thurston County v. W. Wash. Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd.*, 164 Wn.2d 329, 341, 190 P.3d 38 (2008). Under the APA, the “party appealing a board’s decision has the burden of demonstrating [its] invalidity.” *Thurston County*, 164 Wn.2d at 341; see also RCW 34.05.570(1)(a). In reviewing an administrative action, the Court of Appeals “sit[s] in the same position as the trial court

and applies the APA standards directly to the administrative record.”

Superior Asphalt & Concrete Co. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 112 Wn. App. 291, 296, 49 P.3d 135 (2002). In relevant part, a reviewing court must grant relief from an agency's adjudicative decision if:

(d) The agency has erroneously interpreted or applied the law;

(e) The order is not supported by evidence that is substantial when viewed in light of the whole record before the court, which includes the agency record for judicial review, supplemented by any additional evidence received by the court under this chapter;

(i) The order is arbitrary or capricious.

RCW 34.05.570(3). A court reviews an agency's “legal conclusions de novo, giving substantial weight to its interpretation of the statutes it administers” and its “findings of facts for substantial evidence.”

Suquamish Tribe v. Cent. Puget Sound Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd., 156 Wn. App. 743, 760-61, 235 P.3d 812 (2010) (citing *Manke Lumber Co., Inc. v. Cent. Puget Sound Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd.*, 113 Wn. App. 615, 622, 53 P.3d 1011 (2002)).

Substantial evidence is “a sufficient quantity of evidence to persuade a fair-minded person of the truth or correctness of the order.” *Samson v. City of Bainbridge Island*, 149 Wn. App. 33, 54-55, 202 P.3d 334 (2009) (citing *Callecod v. Wash. State Patrol*, 84 Wn. App. 663, 673, 929 P.2d 510 (1997)). Factual findings will not be overturned unless they

are “clearly erroneous.” *Port of Seattle v. Pollution Control Hearings Bd.*, 151 Wn.2d 568, 588, 90 P.3d 659 (2004).

As for the PERC’s legal conclusions, “PERC’s decisions are accorded extraordinary judicial deference, especially in the matter of remedies.” *Pasco Hous. Auth. v. State, Pub. Emp’t Relations Comm’n*, 98 Wn. App. 809, 812-15, 991 P.2d 1177 (2000). Both the Washington Legislature and Supreme Court have recognized that public employee labor relations policy is best managed by creating an expert administration, giving it extensive jurisdiction to fashion equitable remedies, and “severely limiting judicial review.” *Id.* (citing RCW 41.58.005(1), (3); *Arnett v. Seattle General Hospital*, 65 Wn.2d 22, 28, 395 P.2d 503 (1964) (citing *Phelps Dodge Corp. v. Nat’l Labor Relations Bd.*, 313 U.S. 177, 61 S. Ct. 845, 85 L.Ed. 1271, 133 A.L.R. 1217 (1941))); *see also*, *Maple Valley Prof’l Fire Fighters v. King Co. Fire Prot. Dist. No. 43*, 135 Wn. App. 749, 759, 145 P.3d 1247 (2006) (Washington courts give “great deference to PERC’s expertise in interpreting labor relations law”).⁸ This “limited” review means that, if there was in fact an unfair labor practice, Washington appellate courts will affirm unless the remedy is clearly outside the Commission’s power. *Id.* (citing *Pub. Emp’t Relations Comm’n v. City of Kennewick*, 99 Wn.2d 832, 841, 664 P.2d 1240 (1983)). The reviewing court may not substitute its

⁸ *See also Bellevue v. Int’l Ass’n of Fire Fighters*, 119 Wn.2d 373, 381, 831 P.2d 738 (1992) (“Because of the expertise of PERC’s members in labor relations, ... the courts of this state give ‘great deference’ to PERC’s decisions and interpretations of the collective bargaining statutes.”); *City of Pasco v. PERC*, 119 Wn.2d 504, 506, 833 P.2d 381 (1992).

judgment for PERC's, contrary to the general rule. *Municipality of Metro. Seattle v. Pub. Emp't Relations Comm'n*, 118 Wn.2d 621, 634, 826 P.2d 158 (1992). "The only relevant question here is whether the Commission abused its statutory remedial power." *Pasco Hous. Auth.*, 98 Wn. App. at 812-13 (citing *Lewis County v. Pub. Emp't Relations Comm'n*, 31 Wn. App. 853, 865-66, 644 P.2d 1231 (1982)).

B. PERC Is Authorized to Impose "Make Whole" Remedies, Not Punitive Damages.

PERC derives its power to fashion appropriate remedies from the Public Employees Collective Bargaining Act, RCW 41.56 (the "Act"), and from the chapter that creates PERC, RCW 41.58. RCW 41.56.160 does not require particular remedies and gives the agency broad discretion. It is worded in general terms: "The commission is empowered and directed to prevent any unfair labor practice and to issue appropriate remedial orders. . . . RCW 41.56.160(1). Once an unfair labor practice has occurred, the agency issues an order to cease and desist and takes "such affirmative action as will effectuate the purposes and policy of this chapter, such as the payment of damages and the reinstatement of employees." RCW 41.56.160(2).

In the matter of remedies, therefore, intervention is appropriate only if the remedy exceeds the mandate of RCW 41.56.160. *Lewis County*, 31 Wn. App. at 865-66. PERC's orders will be upheld so long as they are consistent with the purposes of the Act and not otherwise unlawful. *Municipality of Metro. Seattle*, 118 Wn.2d at 634-35; *accord*,

Brown v. State, Dep't of Health, Dental Disciplinary Bd., 94 Wn. App. 7, 17, 972 P.2d 101 (1998); *State ex rel. Wash. Fed'n of State Emps.*, 93 Wn.2d at 69; *Shanlian v. Faulk*, 68 Wn. App. 320, 328, 843 P.2d 535 (1992).

PERC regulations state that if an unfair labor practice is found to have been committed, the Commission or examiner shall issue a “remedial” order. WAC 391-45-410. The purpose is to put employees back into the position they would have been in had no unfair labor practice occurred. *City of Kalama*, Decision 6853-A (PECB, 2000). Therefore, in *City of Kalama*, where the employer was found to have unlawfully removed a take-home car benefit, the employer was ordered to reimburse employees at the Internal Revenue Service mileage rate for expenses incurred because they had to drive personal vehicles. *City of Kalama*, Decision 6853-A (PECB, 2000). Similarly, in *City of Vancouver*, Decision 808-A (PECB, 1980), where the employer was found to have unlawfully contracted out bargaining unit work, the employer was ordered to make employees “whole” by compensating them for work they would have performed. Where an employer was found to have unlawfully recouped wages directly from bargaining unit members, the agency ordered the employer to return the recouped wages to the employees. *City of Tacoma*, Decision 11097-A (PECB, 2012).

Because of the “make whole” purpose behind the PERC’s remedies, the agency has refused to award monetary damages that exceed employees’ actual damages. For example, in *Southwest Snohomish Cnty.*

Public Safety Communications Agency, Decision 11149-B (PECB, 2012), the agency rejected the union’s request that it order the employer to pay travel expenses an employee *would have incurred* to teach courses she would have taught but for the employer’s unlawful act:

The purpose of the back pay remedy is to make Basim whole and put her in the same economic position she would have been in absent unlawful discrimination by the employer. The travel costs are not a separate source of income. Rather, travel costs are reimbursements for actual expenses incurred. Basim did not travel to teach courses for the CJTC between March 23, 2010, and December 17, 2010, and did not accrue travel expenses that would require reimbursement during that time period.

Id.

Although it has broad discretion, the PERC acknowledges that it is not authorized to issue remedies that are punitive. *City of Burlington*, Decision 5841-A (PECB, 1997); *Pierce Cnty.*, Decision 1840-A (PECB, 1985); *see also*, *Pierce Cnty.*, Decision 1840-A *et seq.* (PECB, 1985) (“Unfair labor practice remedies should be remedial and not punitive in nature.”). The Commission expressly recognized that in this case:

Some creativity might be appropriate in a case that otherwise meets the criteria for an “extraordinary” remedy, but extraordinary remedies are used sparingly, and ordered only when a defense is frivolous, or when the respondent has engaged in a pattern of conduct showing a patent disregard of its good faith bargaining obligation. *Seattle*

School District, Decision 5542-C (PECB, 1997). Chapter 41.56 RCW does not authorize the Commission to issue remedies that are punitive. *City of Burlington*, Decision 5841-A (PECB, 1997); *Pierce Cnty.*, Decision 1840-A (PECB, 1985); RCW 41.56.160.

Decision 11098-B and 11099-B at 8 (emphasis added); *accord Wash. Fed'n of State Emps. v. State-Corrections*, Decision 11060-A (PRSA), 2012 WL 3792611, 6 (“These remedies should be used sparingly to effectuate the purposes of the Act.”)

“Any remedial order needs to fit the violation found, and extraordinary remedies are still granted sparingly.” *Skagit Cnty.*, Decision 8746-A (PECB, 2006). Extraordinary remedies are generally only permitted in cases where an employer’s conduct constitutes a deliberate attempt to undermine the lawful exercise of employee rights under RCW 41.56. *Snohomish Cnty.*, Decision 9834-B (PECB, 2008). The Commission is not authorized to award excessive remedies that border on a penalty. *City of Burlington*, Decision 5841-A (PECB, 1997). Instead, “remedial orders issued by the Commission are designed to put the employee(s) affected by unfair labor practices back to the same position they would have enjoyed if no labor practice had been committed.” *Central Wash. Univ.*, Decision 10967 (PECB, 2011) (*citing City of Kalama*, Decision 6739-A (PECB, 2001)).

C. The Remedy Imposed by the PERC is Within the Scope of its Authority and Consistent with State and Federal Law.

PERC correctly stated and applied the legal standard applicable to the question of a remedy:

When the Legislature created the Commission, it expressed its intent: to provide uniform and impartial adjustment and settlement of complaints, grievances, and disputes arising from employer-employee relations. RCW 41.56.005. The authority of the Commission to prevent and remedy unfair labor practices is set forth in RCW 41.56.160. . . .

When interpreting the Commission's remedial authority under Chapter 41.56 RCW, the Supreme Court of the State of Washington approved a liberal construction of the statute to accomplish that purpose. *METRO v. PERC*, 118 Wn.2d 621 (1992) . With that purpose in mind, the Supreme Court interpreted the statutory phrase “appropriate remedial orders” to be those necessary to effectuate the purposes of the collective bargaining statute to make the Commission's lawful orders effective. *METRO v. PERC*, 118 Wn.2d at 633.

Some creativity might be appropriate in a case that otherwise meets the criteria for an “extraordinary” remedy, but extraordinary remedies are used sparingly, and ordered only when a defense is frivolous, or when the respondent has engaged in a pattern of conduct showing a patent disregard of its good faith bargaining obligation. *Seattle School District*, Decision 5542-C (PECB, 1997). Chapter 41.56 RCW does not authorize the Commission to issue remedies

that are punitive. *City of Burlington*, Decision 5841-A (PECB, 1997); *Pierce Cnty.*, Decision 1840-A (PECB, 1985); RCW 41.56.160.

The standard remedy for a unilateral change violation includes ordering the offending party to cease and desist and, if necessary, to restore the status quo; make employees whole; post notice of the violation; publicly read the notice; and order the parties to bargain from the status quo. *City of Anacortes*, Decision 6863-B (PECB, 2001).

CR 1982-83.

Applying these standards, PERC imposed a remedy that seeks, as much as is possible, to make employees whole. Specifically, in addition to affirming the traditional unfair labor practice remedies imposed by the examiner (*e.g.*, posting copies of the notice, reading the notice at a regular Board meeting, etc., CR at 1905-06, 1986), the PERC required Kitsap Transit to take the following action:

Make bargaining unit employees who were formerly covered under the Premera PPO plan whole for their losses incurred as a result of the employer's unilateral elimination of the Premera PPO plan. The employer shall reimburse employees the difference between what would have been paid under the Premera PPO plan less any payments made under the HMO plan for all medical expenses. We order the employer to make those reimbursements from the date the employer unilaterally stopped offering the PPO plan until the parties negotiate, and implement, a good faith agreement or

obtain, and implement an award from an interest arbitrator on health insurance coverage.

CR 1986. That remedy is consistent with “make whole remedies” in other unilateral change cases. *See, e.g., City of Kalama*, Decision 6853-A (PECB, 2000) (where the employer was found to have unlawfully removed a take-home car benefit, the employer was ordered to reimburse employees at the federal Internal Revenue Service mileage rate for having to drive their personal vehicles); *Keystone Steel & Wire*, 248 NLRB No. 40, at 283-84 (1980) (requiring employer to reimburse employees for expenses incurred as a result of the change to Metropolitan Life).

PERC’s remedy is also consistent with evidence about the “harm” caused by the elimination of Premera. As noted above, the benefit levels of the two plans were substantially equivalent, with Group Health’s “a little richer.” CR 439-40, 491. In fact, the evidence in the record establishes that employees likely had lower out-of-pocket expenditures with the Group Health plan. CR 671-72. There is little evidence about any measurable negative impact on employees. ATU had only two employees testify about their experiences in transitioning from Premera to Group Health. CR 379-80. One testified that his adult daughter in Oregon could not get a primary care physician that accepts Group Health; however, Group Health has a reciprocal agreement with Kaiser in Oregon. CR 395 at 1-22; CR 1409-61, 345. The same employee also testified that his wife had to have a gynecological exam done by a different practitioner and the new doctor lacked knowledge about a prior procedure she had.

CR 396-97. Nevertheless, the same employee testified that he was “very happy” that Group Health provided full coverage when he had inpatient treatment and that he received “good care,” agreeing that he benefitted from the change. CR 397-98. His testimony did not establish actual “damage” meriting the windfall awarded by the examiner.

The second employee testified that she would have preferred to spend the night in the hospital for a procedure rather than have it performed on an outpatient basis as recommended by her Group Health doctor. CR 385-86. She also had a subjective belief that treatment by the neurosurgery department was less preferable than by an “orthopedic back specialist.” CR 386-87. Because she had originally been scheduled to have the surgery in January 2011, she had to wait until April. CR 385 at 9-10; CR 387 at 16-25. This employee also was not happy with a drug prescribed by her Group Health doctor so she bought it out-of-pocket for \$200. CR 389-90. Again, to the extent that this employee had measurable losses as a result of the switch, such as the non-covered drug expense, it is appropriate for PERC to remedy that through reimbursement.

Given this scant and mixed evidence on “actual harm,” the PERC was justified in limiting compensation to actual out-of-pocket losses incurred by employees who actually moved from Premera to Group Health. Generalized opinion testimony from ATU’s “expert” about the advantages of a PPO-type plan over an HMO network plan, *see* CR 343-47, provides no basis for PERC to determine which employees were unhappy with the switch and which were not. Moreover, as even the

hearing examiner realized, PERC does not have authority to compensate employees for “pain and suffering that resulted from being forced to change health plans,” *see* CR 1898, which is all this opinion testimony would be relevant to.

The PERC’s remedy is also appropriate in terms of what it *did not* include. ATU accused Kitsap Transit of unlawfully paying employees who transitioned to Group Health an “incentive” (in the form of a lump sum payment and coverage of Group Health premiums for 2011). CR 41-74. The record reflects that Kitsap Transit’s objective was merely to provide a transition allowance to minimize or eliminate the impact on employees of Kitsap Transit’s inability to offer the PPO plan. CR 712. Put differently, Kitsap Transit was attempting to approximate the status quo pending further negotiations with the ATU.

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